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STATE OF NEVADA 
COMMISSION ON MINERAL RESOURCES 

Thursday, December 11, 2014 – 1:00 p.m. 
DCNR/Division of Water Resources-Tahoe Hearing Room 

Suite 2002 
901 S. Stewart Street 

Carson City, Nevada 89701-5250 
 

 
COMMISSIONERS IN ATTENDANCE: 
Fred Gibson (Chairperson) (via phone) 
Dennis Bryan  
Richard DeLong 
Art Henderson 
John Mudge (via phone) 
David Parker 
John Snow 

 
ALSO IN ATTENDANCE: 
Lowell Price (NDOM)    Erik Langenfeld (NDOM)     
Mike Visher (NDOM)    Rob Ghiglieri (NDOM) 
Lucia Patterson (NDOM)    Bryan Stockton (Deputy Attorney General) 
Bill Durbin (NDOM-LV)    Russ Fields (UNR/Mackay) 
Rich Perry - Administrator (NDOM)  Alan Coyner (Ret.) 
Valerie Kneefel (NDOM)    Jaron Hildebrand (NTA) 

 George H. Taylor (Attorney General's Office) 
 

CALL TO ORDER/ROLL CALL/PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE  
 
Chairperson Gibson called the meeting to order. Valerie Kneefel took roll call with a quorum of seven members present. The 
Pledge of Allegiance was conducted.   

 
COMMENTS BY THE GENERAL PUBLIC – Pursuant to N.R.S. 241, this time is devoted to comments by the public, if any, and discussion 
of those comments. No action may be taken upon a matter raised under this item on the agenda until the matter itself has been specifically included on a 
successive agenda and identified as an item for possible action. All public comments will be limited to 5 minutes for each person.                   
ACTION WILL NOT BE TAKEN 

            
A. Chairperson Gibson asked for any public comments and asked if Alan wanted to say anything.  Alan Coyner just 

responded with hello.  No other comments were made.  
 

I. MINUTES 
 
A. August 28, 2014 Meeting 

 
ACTION TAKEN:  John Snow moved to approve the August 28, 2014 meeting minutes. Richard DeLong 
seconded the Motion. Motion carried unanimously. 

 
II. NEW BUSINESS 

 
A. Open Meeting Law Training – Presentation on Nevada Open Meeting laws by a representative of the Attorney 

General's Office by George Taylor.  
 

With presentation material, George Taylor discussed the open meeting law; 2014 legislative amendments.  Mr. 
Taylor informed everyone to start in the very back of the PowerPoint©, and it was noted that it was an actual Army 
flowchart.  Mr. Taylor then instructs everyone to flip back over to the front.  He then turned to page 7 and right in 
the middle of page 7 is a short primer, a member's short primer for protecting your public and private 
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communications on electronic devices.  He stated that this is a cutting edge issue for open meeting laws.  He stated 
there is no law in Nevada and he was not there to tell them what to do or how to do it, but he wanted to raise 
consciousness, going through other state's case law with regard to members of public bodies using smart phones, 
tweets, Instagram, or any type of electronic communication, especially emails.  He stated as long as you know the 
ground rules and as long as you know that there's a good possibility that if a member of a public body is conducting 
business on their smart phone, sending emails and so forth, it may be discoverable.  He stated that's not the law in 
Nevada, but they have some cases that are close and he'll mention those kinds of cases.  The last slide on page 7 is 
for public disclosure about private emails, text, Twitter feeds, or any other communication which public business is 
discussed or conducted whether on a publicly-owned smart phone or a publicly-owned electronic device and even if 
it is privately owned.  Many public bodies, for example, Marshall County School District Trustees, are paid a 
stipend from the district to use their personal smart phones to communicate with the district, so they're paid for that.  
There may be other instances in the state.  He has not done a survey but does know it is possible.  In every public 
talk that he gives to public bodies, someone either comes up later and says, well, we use our smart phones or emails 
to communicate with each other, and that's not exactly what he means.  It's not exactly the same thing as conducting 
public business. He believes the courts that have looked at it have concluded that conducting public business means 
actually deliberating or making a commitment, not exactly voting, but making a commitment is still a problem under 
the open meeting law, a problem for members of a public body. 
 
Commissioner DeLong asked if he was drawing a distinction between discussions and deliberation.  
 
Mr. Taylor stated that was a good question, and that for purposes of the open meeting law discussion it is the same 
thing, to assume that.  In the dictionary, of course, it is not.  Discussion is a much bigger definition than deliberation, 
but deliberation clearly connotes that you are discussing something with the idea of reaching a conclusion and 
voting on it, coming to a conclusion.  He stated, but just to be on the safe side he suggests that members of public 
bodies treat the usage of the word discussion as synonymous with deliberation as far as open meeting law goes. 
 
Commissioner DeLong then asked if Mr. Taylor is drawing a distinction between smart phones and laptops. 
 
Mr. Taylor stated no, any electronic device.  He meant to include all of them.  He just used the smart phone as the 
first thing that came to his mind.  He stated that anything that's capable of sending an email, Twitter, and even 
Instagram, but email is primarily what he's talking about.  He went on to say that when there are questions as he 
goes through this to raise hand and they'll talk about it then.  He hopes to leave time at the end for questions about 
anything else.  Mr. Taylor proceeded to page 8, the slide at the top, right to privacy.  That's where many people and 
people who are members of a public body, you have a right to privacy.  There's nothing in your private life that is 
subject to disclosure.  It's only when this combines here, when you commingle with your private life and your public 
business, and then it's up to the courts to decide; that is those courts that have looked at this and for which there is 
some law in their jurisdiction about these kinds of things.  Your private life is your private life and your private 
business.  Mr. Taylor then directed to the middle slide, and this is fairly recent, Landmark vs. EPA.  This is in 
federal court and is still in federal court.  The requestor, which was Landmark is a think tank in Washington D.C. 
and they're a watchdog over the EPA.  They asked for any and all EPA records indicating that the EPA may have 
deliberately slowed or delayed issuance of a controversial regulation until after the presidential elections, so it's 
going back to 2012.  I just checked and it's still hanging around in the district court of the D.C. circuit.  Mr. Taylor 
then directed to the second bullet of the slide.   
 
Commissioner Snow asked Mr. Taylor if there's a FOIA process for the state or is that only a federal process. 
 
Mr. Taylor stated FOIA is the federal process, but what has happened is that many states like Illinois and 
Washington have adopted FOIA, and it's called the Illinois FOIA or the Washington State FOIA, but that Nevada 
did not. 
 
Commissioner Snow then asked for confirmation if Nevada has adopted the FOIA. 
 
Mr. Taylor confirmed that Nevada does not have a state FOIA.  He adds that they do have State Public Records Act 
that's in Chapter 249.  His office goes over every year, every session, with a request for something to make public 
records a little more clear.  He states Nevada is one of the few states, if any, that does not have a definition of public 
record.  He informed that they will be going to the legislature this year and asked them to put a definition of a public 
record there and trying to raise consciousness.  Mr. Taylor continued on to page 8, the second bullet.  The federal 
court found that further discovery was necessary in the Landmark vs. EPA case regarding, "possible exclusion of 
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relevant personal emails of certain high-level EPA officials."  The court furthermore noted the existence of a 
Congressional investigation into whether the EPA regularly used private communications to conduct agency 
business to avoid FOIA obligations.  Mr. Taylor noted though this is at the federal level and is only using this case 
as an example since it received so much press and media attention in Congress and in print media.  Mr. Taylor then 
continued on to the last slide informing that the district court stated that the record left open the possibility that the 
agency had engaged in bad-faith conduct by excluding top politically appointed leaders of the EPA from its initial 
response to the FOIA request.  He stated that generally when a FOIA request is made all the federal agency has to do 
is show good faith in making things available.  If it does get to court and the court determines it was in good faith or 
they made a reasonable effort, that's good.  It doesn't go beyond that.  In the Landmark vs. EPA case, the judge 
thought Landmark has made a case here for the fact that their replies were not made in good faith and the court 
ordered discovery be conducted into whether and what extent the EPA officials utilized their personal email 
accounts to conduct official business, and this case was still there.  He stated there are also state cases he's looked at, 
like Illinois and others, that have considered these and by in large it's the issue of determining whether they had 
conducted public business, even discussions of public business.  That's the issue for the state cases.  The state cases 
are not all the same and some have come to different conclusions.  He further stated that there's no doubt if you're 
using your smart phone and laptop in a public meeting like this that someone, the media, could ask what you're 
doing and who you're texting and that sort of thing.  He asked to remember he's only trying to raise consciousness 
because Nevada has no law.  His bottom line is to be careful and realize that if you do use your laptops and smart 
phones in public meetings that if the media ever asks for it just make sure there's nothing in there that you wouldn't 
want to be disclosed, no private business to be disclosed.  He asked for any other questions concerning other slides 
in his PowerPoint©.  He also pointed out the Nevada Supreme Court said the open meeting law does not prohibit 
every private discussion of a public issue by members of the public body or even forbid lobbying for votes, but a 
quorum must not be involved.  He stated that the Commission can talk with each other but to make sure there's no 
serial communications and no quorum of the body is implicated in any discussion. 
 
Commissioner DeLong asked Mr. Taylor to define serial communication. 
 
Mr. Taylor defined serial communications using an example that Bryan and himself are on a public body and are 
talking about something coming up on our agenda for a zoning issue and talking about the issue coming up and 
discussing it and deliberating as far as two people.  The public body they're on has five people and just the two are 
talking about it.  Then one decides to call John Snow and let him know what we talked about it and see what he 
thinks, so serially we've had this communication, called John, and discussed the ins and outs of what we discussed 
and what our conclusions were and even if I just leave it at that all the sudden we've created a serial communication 
among a quorum in that hypothetical public body.   
 
Commissioner Bryan asked if that's allowed. 
 
Mr. Taylor responded it is not allowed.   
 
Commissioner Bryan asked on their body that they have seven, that three can get together and talk but if they bring 
in a fourth even afterwards that they can't do that. 
 
Mr. Taylor responded they can't do that.  Mr. Taylor goes on to discuss committees and what they do.  He informed 
that committees are subject to the open meeting law because if a committee is created it also is subject to the open 
meeting law.  He went to page 5 where it states to the extent a group is appointed by a public body, a committee for 
example, it is given the task of making decisions or even a recommendation coming back to the public body, the 
group would be governed by the open meeting law.  He went to the next slide that stated if a recommendation to a 
public body is more than mere fact finding.  He stated fact finding is okay and the legislature defined deliberation 
the last session and fact finding is no longer in the definition.  If a committee engages in more than mere fact finding 
then it is subject to the open meeting law. 
 
Commissioner Bryan asked if he said that fact finding is no longer a part of the definition 
 
Mr. Taylor stated fact finding is not in the definition of deliberation and fact finding is okay to do. 
 
Commissioner Bryan then asked if they could have five people on a fact finding mission. 
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Mr. Taylor confirmed that would be all right to do as long as a recommendation is not made as on page 5 of the last 
slide where it shows the change in law that says deliberation means to collectively examine, weigh, and reflect upon 
the reasons for or against the action or a choice. 
 
Mr. Stockton stated, if you come back with more than facts to the Commission and you say we looked at all the facts 
and we liked this one then that's a violation. 
 
Mr. Taylor stated, if you send a committee out to various lines or gather some facts about production, a lot of that 
stuff is done by staff, but if there's any fact finding you have to do, that wouldn't be subject to the open meeting law. 
 
Mr. Perry asked, what if there's been a taskforce formed and they don't have a quorum and they're mostly staff and 
the Commission has asked staff to form a taskforce to go out and do something in particular, but sometimes there's a 
Commissioner with that specialty on that taskforce then that's okay. 
 
Mr. Taylor informed that scenario is okay.  Mr. Taylor used that as an example where a Commission has given an 
instruction to staff and staff creates the taskforce and staff asks one of the Commissioners to join or less than a 
quorum to join because of the expertise, then that is okay.   
 
Commissioner Bryan stated that a taskforce is like a fact finding body. 
 
Mr. Taylor stated, no, it's another example and not fact finding and they're not subject to the open meeting law 
because they're not a public body, they're staff, and they were not created by the Commission.  The Commission 
asked the staff to create the taskforce.  Mr. Taylor stated an example where the administrator is given the authority 
to use the staff he wants and appoint staff or appoint one or two Commissioners, and that avoids the open meeting 
law. 
 
Commissioner Parker asked what if they come back with a recommendation. 
 
Mr. Taylor said that is fine and they are not subject to open meeting law.  The taskforce can make recommendations 
and bring anything back that they want. 
 
Commissioner Bryan stated, they couldn't appoint the four of us to that taskforce?  
 
Mr. Taylor stated, not four. 
 
Commissioner DeLong asked, if the Commission went on a fact finding activity, does it have to remain less than a 
quorum? 
 
Mr. Taylor replied no, it's okay.  Mr. Taylor gave an example of traveling to the mines and everyone would go out 
and talk and was altogether, and that was fine. 
 
Commissioner Bryan stated they had always posted those under public meeting. 
 
Mr. Taylor stated that was always done even then and invited the public to accompany.   He doesn't think what he's 
describing is any different than what's been done in the past.  He just wanted to make sure that with the advent of the 
smart phone and email and the laptop that anything Commissioners put on their laptop that is business related may 
be discoverable and to keep that in mind.   
 
Commissioner Bryan then stated, on the other hand, anything that you write on a piece of note paper. 
 
Mr. Taylor stated he presumes but won't go there.  He was just speaking on electronic communications and would 
defer to Counsel Bryan Stockton about a piece of paper.              
 
Commissioner Mudge asked a question about being on a subcommittee and being asked to go out and meet with 
someone in gathering information and has that meeting and composes an email and sends it to the subcommittee or 
maybe send it to the Commission, is that okay or does that information that I gathered and maybe that includes some 
figures of mine that needs to be disclosed? 
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Mr. Taylor stated, it's an important issue and has done research on it.  If one member of a public body sends an 
email to all the other members of the public body and even if the email has conclusions in it, recommendations, that 
sort of thing, what happens; is that illegal?  Mr. Taylor said in his review backed by case law is that the passive 
receipt of an email to another member of a body does not offend the open meeting law, at least not in the state of 
Washington and California and other states.  Mr. Taylor read on passive receipt, if you receive something from one 
of your members and you don't do anything with it, you don't do anything with it, you just receive it, you don't 
respond, don't hit reply all, don't respond to someone else, so in this State of Washington case the court concluded 
that an exchange of emails can constitute a meeting but the mere use or passive receipt of email does not 
automatically constitute a meeting.  It depends on what you do with it after it's sent.  The court explained in this case 
there was a meeting by email and it explained how it happened because after a school board in Washington sent 
emails to each other, then the board started discussing various emails with each other and going back and forth.  
There's nothing in Nevada according to the research Mr. Taylor has looked at have stated the passive receipt of an 
email does not offend the open meeting law without more activity. 
 
Mr. Stockton stated that what he's done in the past, if there's something big going on and I have to email everyone, 
he will send an email but it will say in the email not to reply to everybody, only reply to him.  If there's litigation 
going on, he'll communicate to all the Commissioners but if you reply all then the open meeting law has been 
violated whereas if you just reply to him the law is not violated.   
 
Commissioner Parker stated about the passive to just reply and say thank you for the information.   
 
Mr. Taylor stated that would be fine.  He asks for any further questions regarding the PowerPoint© or anything 
discussed.   
 
Commissioner Bryan thanked Mr. Taylor for his presentation.  Mr. Bryan also stated his name and explained he is 
the Vice Chair of the Commission on Mineral Resources and is in charge for the meeting because Chair Gibson is 
on phone but out of town.  
 
Administrator Rich Perry introduced the staff in attendance including Lowell Price, Rob Ghiglieri, Erik Langenfeld, 
Mike Visher, Bill Durbin, and Lucia Patterson.   
 
Commissioner Bryan then asked for others in attendance to identify themselves. 
 
Mr. Russ Fields introduced himself as the Director of Mackay School of Earth Sciences and Engineering, University 
of Nevada. 
 
Mr. Alan Coyner introduced himself as former administrator of Nevada Division of Minerals. 
 
Mr. Jaron Hildebrand introduced himself with the Nevada Trucking Association.      
 
Commissioner Bryan welcomed everyone to the meeting and proceeded to the next agenda item. 
 
NO ACTION NEEDED 
                         

 
B. Nevada Earth Science Teachers Workshop  

 
Administrator Rich Perry, Division of Minerals, reviewed a letter from the Nevada Mining Association requesting a 
continued partnership for the Nevada Earth Science Teachers Workshop that is co-sponsored by the Nevada Mining 
Association and the Nevada Division of Minerals.  This historically has been an amount of money that the 
Commission has donated for this cause, and the Commission does the direct purchasing of materials for the teachers 
workshop, so it doesn't go to the Nevada Mining Association directly but we purchase the rock boxes, the earth 
science reference books, hand lenses, and other materials for the workshops and also typically pay for the bus fee for 
the teachers to go out on a field trip for the one that's in Las Vegas in March/April and the one which is in Northern 
Nevada in July.  Dana Bennett, President of the Nevada Mining Association, and Patti McClelland, Chair of 
Education Committee, were planning on being here but were unable due to weather.  The Commission has budgeted 
for, it's consistent with what the Commission does, and is a proper use of the funds and consistent with the statutes.   
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Commissioner Parker stated he didn't realize there was direct purchasing power for this.  He had thought it went 
through the Nevada Mining Association and was glad for the clarification. 
 
Commissioner Bryan stated the Commission has done this for a long time and asked for a motion to approve. 
 
Richard DeLong moved to approve the Motion for request for financial support.  John Snow seconded the 
Motion.  Motion carried unanimously. 
 
C. 2014 Mining Claims 

 
Administrator Rich Perry indicated he would like to give updates every year because the numbers for the mining 
claims are in and Lucia has mined those numbers and has something to report and thinks it is appropriate to look at 
these every year because it has such a large impact on the revenue, so we're kicking this off as an annual affair. 
 
Commissioner Bryan asked Lucia to introduce herself. 
 
Ms. Lucia Patterson stated she is from Susanville, California and received Bachelor's Degree at Chico State 
University in 2006 and started at the University of Nevada-Reno in 2006 doing Master's Thesis under John Muntean 
with the Nevada Bureau of Mines and Geology.  Ms. Patterson's Thesis was entitled "The Hydrothermal Footprint of 
Carlin-Type Deposits at the District Scale from the Jerritt Canyon Mining District in Elko County, Nevada"  She 
finished the thesis in 2009 and started working with Staccato, which later became Timberline Resources in 2008 and 
worked with them up until this last year.  Ms. Patterson did some contracting this past year helping people interpret 
stratigraphy out in Eureka.   
 
Commissioner Bryan thanked her and asked her to proceed. 
 
With a PowerPoint© presentation, Ms. Lucia Patterson gave an overview of the 2013/2014 versus 2014/2015 claim 
assessment year with some statistics.  First, an assessment year is defined as being a period of time between 
September 1st of one year to September 1st of the following year; for example, the 2014/2015 assessment year 
would be from September 1st of this year to September 1st of next year.  Ms. Patterson informed she used the 
abbreviation A-Y throughout the presentation.  Ms. Patterson moved on to the next slide showing a comparison of 
the active claims between the 2013/2014 assessment year and 2014/2015.  This year has 176,198 active claims in 
Nevada, which is an 8.5% decrease in claims from the prior year.  Ms. Patterson did research in regards to which 
claims were owned by producing claimants versus exploration claimants and approximately 52 percent of all active 
claims in Nevada are held by exploration or non-producing claimants and 48 percent by producing claimants such as 
Barrick and Newmont and other small produces.  Ms. Patterson's next slide showed a chart of the distribution of the 
claims per county with Elko County and Eureka County holding the most claims in the state and descending down to 
Storey County and Carson, which have the least amount of claims.  Ms. Patterson's final slide showed a slide of the 
revenue that the Division gets from the counties from the claim fees.  The red line is the 2015 assessment year and 
the data is only through September because a lot of counties pay quarterly, and basically the message is getting back 
down to 2011 in terms of the claims.   
 
Commissioner Bryan asked for any questions.  With none indicated, he thanked Ms. Patterson for her presentation 
and felt it's good to know the exploration versus the production. 
 
NO ACTION NEEDED        
 
D.   RAMS Database Project 
 
Mr. Rob Ghiglieri gave his presentation on the database upgrade project.  In March of 2014, the U.S. Army Corps of 
Engineers, Restoration of Abandoned Mine Sites (RAMS) program was going to receive funding for this year.  It 
had been a while since they had received it. In 2008, NDOM used that funding to get into the ArcMap database.  
Everything was digitized, and now the next steps are being taken to try to create a geo-database system off a virtual 
server host system that is going to be hosted on Enterprise IT, so the state IT system.  In April, funding was 
requested.  Last October official word came that TerraSpectra Geomatics of Las Vegas, Nevada was awarded the 
contract through the Army Corps of Engineers.  So they actually are currently working on building a new SQL 
server system database.  There are four main tasks of the database: one, develop a new AML database which is 
similar to what exists but have many more capabilities; two, develop a web application hosted on a virtual service 
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with a limit of 10 users; three,  photo optimization and geotagging, which is redigitizing and having everything in 
one spot; and four, create an application for the end-user mobile device which is basically digital field logging with 
ruggedized tablets with an RTS program background having the two basic maps and with all the information needed 
already logged into it, take the photos, log the hazards, update, tag the photos, and upload directly to the database 
skipping the manual data entry saving a lot of time. 
 
Commissioner DeLong asked if they can actually get tablets with GPS that are submeter accuracy. 
 
Mr. Ghiglieri responded saying they don't need submeter accuracy for what they're doing and two to three meter 
accuracy is good enough.  GPS submeter accuracy is available, but they cost $7,000.  NDOM is not looking to 
purchase any of those features, but yes, they do have the tablets that get sub-foot accuracy.  In regard to timeframes, 
Mr. Ghiglieri will meet with TerraSpectra in Las Vegas to discuss future development.  TerraSpectra has a format 
for the new database but hasn't transferred any data yet, so Mr. Ghiglieri will go over that with TerraSpectra and 
perhaps by the end of the month they'll have a draft database.  It is to be implemented by May before the interns 
start.  However, the digital field logging will not be implemented until later in the year so they know what approach 
to go to; it'll be tested over the summer but won't be implemented directly until the end of this year or beginning of 
next year.  NDOM will incur some costs.  NDOM has to purchase ArcServer, at an initial price of $5,000 with an 
annual license of $1,250 and also the GPS devices at a range of $800 to $3,000 looking at the $1,500 range.  Also, 
the platform to be used is still being looked at.  Mr. Ghiglieri then talked about the existing format of the database.  
The existing process has a Windows workstation connected to a drive on the business industry server.  Everything 
goes in and out of that, must be logged onto their server.  This allows for human errors.  There are no safeguards 
from accidentally deleting or removing files; no double-checking; allows for overwriting existing data without going 
back unless having a safe copy.  The new setup will have a Windows 2012 system, the SQL server.  That will be at 
Enterprise IT.  Inside of that, there will be a database for the photos, a geo-database inside the SQL database so they 
will be interacting, and also an Arc GIS server to allow web-capable mapping features.  Then comes out to a forms 
and reports map viewer by a third-party software.  The web application is what TerraSpectra is building currently.  
Everything is going to be run from the desktops, and the only difference is that log in can happen anywhere from 
house or hotel, et cetera and will allow immediate work so this will allow us to skip many steps.  There also will 
always be the ability for hand entry from claimants, companies, et cetera.  That capability will always be there.   
 
Commissioner Bryan asked if you click on a feature, will that feature have all the history of all the visits in the past. 
 
Mr. Ghiglieri answered, yes. 
 
Commissioner Bryan then asked, in other words, you'll be able to say, okay, we've had to go back and re-fence this 
thing six times and that's going to tell you something that maybe you should hardwire. 
 
Mr. Ghiglieri answered, exactly, do a physical hard closure on those, and that's what they're doing right now.  With 
the new database currently, they're combining so it's all one table and list every time they were there, what was done 
on each trip, so they will have a list of what was done and who did it.  
 
Commissioner Bryan asked that every bit of information including correspondence to the claim owner or whatever, 
would that be there? 
 
Mr. Ghiglieri explained it will be in the notes and may be limited to character length.  When Mr. Ghiglieri meets 
with TerraSpectra he will discuss what's a character length for the notes, because the more you add, the larger the 
files get, and there's a restricted size.  To go bigger, it will cost more money so they are trying to keep it under the 40 
gigabyte limit.   
 
Commissioner Snow asked as far as being dedicated to the contractor, how do you envision it evolving for 
maintenance in out years and is this something that we'll internally be able to take over or will there always be a 
contractor need. 
 
Mr. Ghiglieri stated right now the contract is open until June of 2016 and there's still ability to add more funding to 
it.  Currently, they're trying to get it developed and trying to get a little background history in SQL to where once it's 
built they're going to build it to where we can modify it ourselves from that point forward.  Mr. Ghiglieri stated that 
they've had that talk and that's the way they try to build databases.  They're going to build it simple enough to where 
if we need to add a field it will be very simple to add a field and won't take much coding.  It may come down to at 
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one point in time to put a contract out if there's the need for a complete revamp, but they are trying to predict to the 
future so they don't have to do that. 
 
Commissioner Parker asked, if these people have had similar experience with developing these? 
 
Mr. Ghiglieri stated they are building currently the Navajo Nation's database for the AML.  They also dealt with us 
in 2008, so they saw what we have.  They've already got us to the point where we are digitally with being able to 
have everything in this access database.  They are also starting the NDEP  database now for their AML program. 
 
Commissioner Bryan asked for further questions, with none indicated and thanked Mr. Ghiglieri for his presentation.       
 
E.   Letter from Commission to UNR-Mackay 
 
Commissioner Bryan introduced Rich Perry. 
 
Mr. Rich Perry referred to a draft letter that Commissioner Mudge and Commissioner Bryan requested.  Mr. Perry 
stated Commissioner Mudge had done the final editing to communicate to the School of Mines what the status of 
financing was and the condition.  Mr. Perry then referred to Commissioner Mudge for comments. 
 
Commissioner Mudge stated that when the committee that was formed to look at the mining claim fees got together, 
one of the topics was the funding that NDOM has provided over the years to the Nevada Bureau of Mine and 
Geology and the fact that over the years the funding from the university had fallen off and NDOM was in position to 
be able to step up and fill the void left.  So through discussion, Commissioner Mudge had been tasked with visiting 
Dean Jeff Thompson of the College of Science about the university's plan on funding going forward through the 
Nevada Bureau of Mines and Geology with the thought of letting them know that NDOM revenues are down and 
won't be able to fund even close to the level we're at.  NDOM recognizes that revenues were up some at the state and 
we're hopeful that the university and the College of Science could allocate more funding for the bureau.  So 
Commissioner Mudge and Jeff Thompson had a good discussion, and of course, Jeff and the College of Science are 
great allies of NDOM.  Mr. Thompson assured he was well aware of the situation, and he's met with folks with the 
bureau and he was working on things to help.  Mr. Thompson said it's difficult to have limited teaching roles and 
difficult that they're not right on campus, but he was working on it.  Mr. Thompson said what would be helpful if 
Commissioner Mudge continued to convince the university that you, as the Commission and Division, let me know 
the importance of the Bureau of Mines to the industry.  So that was discussed and agreed that a letter from NDOM 
to him stating that importance would be a good idea.  So Commissioner Mudge talked with Rich Perry some and felt 
like putting it all in context in terms of our support over the years, our support from Mackay, but at the same time 
the revenue has dropped a lot and what we were planning on supporting going forward and what we weren't going to 
be able to support going forward.  Specifically, being able to continue the claim fee money that we committed to but 
backing way off on bureau funding, at least any new commitments on funding.  So I think Jeff got it and Rich and I 
talked and we drafted up this letter that's in the packet here, so consider approving.  Commissioner Mudge then 
asked for any questions? 
 
Commissioner Bryan asked if everyone has had a chance to look at the letter.  With no indication, he then asked for 
any other comments. 
 
Commissioner Parker commented if it was considered to cc the Governor's office, whether that would be advisable. 
 
Mr. Perry stated he thinks it's more applicable just to the university on this so doesn't think that would have any 
impact.   
 
Commissioner Henderson asked that for the $2 that's given to support, do we have any control where that $2 goes; 
are we able to direct that money in any way, or is it just given to them and they do as they wish? 
 
Commissioner DeLong stated that Russ has always come in every year and presented the budget for our 
concurrence, so we do see where it's going and are able to weigh in though Commissioner DeLong would not say 
they have any direct control over it.   
 
Commissioner Mudge commented, he thinks Russ had communicated that some money has been routed to the 
bureau. If you go back to the agreement that we had with the university and the basis for the original work that led to 
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that claim fee, it was very specifically cutting the mining engineering program in half and asking the industry and 
the Commission to make up for those monies and we were able to do that with the claim fee.  Commissioner Mudge 
felt it was very specific that it was to be for education purposes in mineral disciplines. 
 
Commissioner Bryan stated that down at the Nevada Bureau of Mines and Geology they have more of an education 
commitment up at Mackay and could that qualify for what the original intent of that $2 is.   
 
Commissioner Mudge responded possibly. 
 
Commissioner Bryan asked if Russ would like to say something. 
 
Mr. Russ Fields, Director of the Mackay School of Earth Sciences and Engineering, which is within the College of 
Science and reports to the Dean of the College of Science to whom the letter is written stated that with regard to the 
$2 fee as Commissioner Mudge indicated, that was spawned at a time when the university was faced with some very 
significant cuts and looking at all of the units within the university it was clear that mining engineering was an area 
that based on cost per units of production, that mine engineering was not a real efficient operation.  Dollars were cut 
from the university's budget, effectively cutting in half the budget for mining and engineering at the Mackay School, 
but it was this Commission under the leadership of Chairman Gibson and John Mudge especially who led the charge 
to actually go out and seek a funding mechanism that could be used to help offset that one half or so cut in the 
budget of the mining and engineering department.  Like most units of government, the highest cost aspect of the unit 
was personnel, and that equals faculty.  So in order to carry out the teaching mission we were faced with needing to 
support faculty.  And that's where all of the $2 claim fee has gone.  And Commissioner DeLong is correct, I've come 
back to the Commission numerous times on a near annual basis to show actually the individual faculty who would 
be supported together with their other supports all within the mining and engineering department. And it wasn't for 
approval with the Commission; it was just to make sure that we were doing our due diligence of keeping this 
Commission informed of how those dollars were being spent. 
 
Commissioner Bryan asked Russ if the university is stepping up to the plate in the helping with salaries for the 
mining and engineering folks more than they have in the past. 
 
Mr. Fields stated the only place we've seen relief in operating costs from the university has been in the operations, 
other than faculty, for example the staff operations.  We've gotten some equipment able to support staff but the 
quick answer right now realizing that we've got a legislative session coming in the future is not yet.  The question 
was asked, could these dollars be used for anything else?  I think technically the language in the agreement is 
mineral exploration and production.  I think it could be shunted into other things, but clearly the objective of that 
money in the beginning was mining and engineering.  We still have substantial needs even while funding is going 
down, so I would doubt it would be a decision in Jeff's area or certainly in mine to shunt away from our basic 
mission, which is teaching. 
 
Commissioner Bryan stated but yet some of the Nevada Bureau of Mine people now are teaching; right? 
 
Mr. Fields responded yes.  In fact, each of the faculty members within the Bureau of Mines and Geology, and that 
includes everyone from the Director, Jim Faulds, on down to the most recent research faculty within the bureau has 
a .25 FTE.  That's 25 percent of their time is to be picked up in the Department of Geological Sciences and 
Engineering, which is the academic unit in geology of the Mackay School.  So that is going to be directed at 
teaching.  
 
Commissioner Bryan asked John Mudge, where do we want to leave this? 
 
Commissioner Mudge hoped to get approval from the Commission of this letter and Fred's name is in the signature 
block so if we can approve it and have Fred sign it and send it to Jeff. 
 
Commissioner Bryan stated he likes the last sentence that says, "I would appreciate the opportunity to talk with you 
more about this and to help explore options."  Commissioner Bryan thinks that says it all in the letter. 
 
Commissioner DeLong stated he has one edit to the second to last paragraph, last line.  He thinks it should read 
committed to funding this program through 2018.   
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Commissioner Bryan stated, good point. 
 
Commissioner DeLong stated other than that, the letter reads really well and certainly has his support.  
 
Commissioner Bryan asked for a motion.   
 
Richard DeLong moved to approve the draft letter.  David Parker seconded the Motion.  Motion carried 
unanimously.   
 
F.   Discussion of Commission Bill Draft Request 46-344 
 
Mr. Rich Perry presented the discussion item on the discussion of Commission Bill Draft Request 46-344.  He stated 
from the standpoint of the Commission and the Division, he really sees it as the most critical item they have to 
accomplish in the next eight months.  This, of course, is the bill draft request that the Commission approved when 
they went through the logic of how much they were raising in fees in the oil and gas program and the realization that 
they were pretty far under water and they went through the promulgation of the hydraulic fracturing regulations last 
year which require them to be in the field significantly more before and the time spent.  So this bill, they drafted and 
it went through the Governor's Office.  It's one of his 110 bills that he introduced from other state agencies, and they 
were asked to talk to and communicate with the oil produces and they did that by conference call and in person to 
achieve the consensus that, yes, they were onboard with this.  That was important to the Governor's Office.  It 
actually has the draft from LCB, which acts as a cover sheet to this, but that doesn't become public until December 
22nd that will come out along with all of the other ones.  There's a protocol to the whole draft and their release to 
everyone, the public, legislators at the same time.  This particular bill will require a two-thirds vote because it does 
impact financing.  That was established by LCB in their review.  So it means that in reaching out to legislators they 
will need to do that with both parties because neither party has two-thirds.  So from his standpoint, what he's asking 
the Commission to do is to meet with legislators that you know now that the election is over and they know who is 
going to be there, to reach out to them.  Mr. Perry stated he will reach out to as many as he can and has talked to 
several already who are supportive of it; Pete Goicoechea, John Ellison, and Jim Settelmeyer.  They've got a lot 
more people they need to talk to about this to socialize it with them.  When Mr. Perry talked to them, he took this 
copy of it and said we did the hydraulic fracturing regulations but we're way under water on fees.  He gave them a 
copy and said can you support us on this?  The questions he had were, you want to remove the $200 fee from here. 
One particular senator asked who actually approves the new fee, and Mr. Perry reiterated it's the Commission that 
does that, not the Division, so it's not a state agency that sets the fee.  The Commission, who is appointed by the 
Governor and are outside folks are the ones that would set the fees ultimately.  And the way this is written it is to set 
reasonable fees for the review of plan specifications and changes thereto by the administrator and for services 
provided by the Division that allow them to collect enough money.  So it really means just enough to cover the 
program, and we've estimated that somewhere around $160,000 a year.  Mr. Perry was hoping to generate discussion 
how they move forward and talk to legislators to get some help on this one. 
 
Commissioner Bryan stated to be careful to start making too much strategy and then you're deliberating. 
 
Commissioner Henderson stated one thing is to remind the people you talk to is our drilling permit fees are $200 and 
BLM is $6,500 so there's a big discrepancy, and we do operate in parallel and we do a little extra than they do with 
the area of review and different things like that.  So that's one way, when we're discussing this we can give a little bit 
of credibility to this $200 fee being too low.  
 
Commissioner DeLong asked Mr. Stockton if their discussion with any of the legislators considered lobbying. 
 
Mr. Stockton stated he'll have to get back to them on that.  He hasn't been asked that question before so doesn't 
know the definition of lobbying. 
 
Commissioner DeLong stated his concern is if they need to be registered then to talk to someone other than our own 
legislator. 
 
Mr. Stockton stated he'll have to look up on that.  He doesn't think so, but he needs to do research to make sure.  
He'll send an email out that lets everyone know what he comes up with.   
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Commissioner Bryan stated he's been down lobbying on behalf of other organizations but personally talking to every 
legislator you can find.  This was for the Nevada Mining Association, the exploration group.   
 
Mr. Stockton stated that other Commissions have done that too.  He's just never been asked if that's lobbying or not 
and whether they have to be registered, so he will look into that.         
 
Mr. Perry stated, the comment the Governor's Chief of Staff gave when this was approved and they called him over 
is tell your Commissioners they're now free to talk to legislators about this bill.   
 
Commissioner Mudge gave some thoughts on it would be good to generate two or maybe three talking points, pretty 
simple concise things to be saying the same thing to help explain what they want to do.  Another thought is it'd be a 
good idea to educate Dana Bennett and the relations groups at the Nevada Mining Association on this so they can be 
supportive or at least not opposed.  A third thought is just the politics, the legislative session and logic doesn't 
necessarily win the day and it strikes him that they could have some advisor that could help us figure out the way 
through that legislative session would be helpful. 
 
Commissioner Bryan asked who Commissioner Mudge would suggest. 
 
Commissioner Mudge stated he thinks there are a number of people.  Paul Enos is really astute when it comes to 
that, but the question is does that outside hiring a lobbyist and can we even do that.  
 
Commissioner Bryan stated he wouldn't think so. 
 
Mr. Perry commented that he can develop some talking points and pass those out to the Commissioners.  He stated 
that he is meeting with Dana Bennett next week for lunch, so he will do that.  Tim Crowley was very aware of that, 
but he will certainly talk to Dana Bennett and the Nevada Mining Association staff.   He's had various presentations 
to various state agencies a slide of what they have going, so there are other state agencies that are aware of it.  With 
regards to an outside advisor, clearly they can't have any, but Mr. Perry states he knows Noble Energy's folks will be 
active in this arena too, they are external relations people. 
 
Commissioner Snow asked Mr. Perry that when he works on these high-level talking points would that be something 
they can envision using like as testimony at committee meetings. 
 
Mr. Perry responded yes.  He will make them short and sweet because it's a fairly short and sweet bill, but he can 
write them such that they can be used for talking points for testimony.  
 
Commissioner Snow also asked in fast-forwarding to one of those, would it necessarily need to be Commissioners 
or could it be staff that would give the message. 
 
Mr. Perry responded he's sure he's going to get called up as the agency head to talk about the bill when it reaches 
Senate Natural Resources and Assembly Natural Resources and Mining.  The Chairman of the Senate Natural 
Resources is Don Gustavson.  He's been chosen.  The Assembly, Mr. Perry states he did hear a name that morning 
but thinks it's still in flux.  The name he heard was Robin Titus, but he doesn't know if it's finalized. 
 
Commissioner Snow stated they have industry support, but do they anticipate any opposition. 
 
Mr. Perry responded, not that he's aware of. 
 
Mr. Stockton clarified a previous question about the lobby question.  He was able to look up the statute and there's 
two parts to being a lobbyist.  One, is that you appear in the legislative building so if you're talking to a legislator 
outside the building then the definition doesn't apply.  The second is, communicates with the member of the 
legislative branch on behalf of someone other than themselves, and so when you talk to them you're talking in your 
individual capacity, not as a representative of the Commission.  Mr. Stockton informs the Wildlife Commission was 
very careful to do that when they were lobbying for their bills.  So you're just to make it clear you're not talking to 
them on behalf of the Commission; you're talking to them as an individual.  You can let them know you're on the 
Commission and you should clearly identify your connections to the industry and the Commission.  So the answer is 
no as long as you don't go beyond those items mentioned in NRS.218H.080. 
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Commissioner Bryan asked for any further comments or discussion.  No indications are made.   
 
NO ACTION NEEDED 
 
G.   Analysis of Certificate of Location Language 
 
Commissioner Bryan passed out a Certificate of Location and Affidavit and Notice of Intent to Hold.  Where this 
came from is for the last 30 years Commissioner Bryan has been using the forms suggested by the Division of 
Minerals, and sometimes those forms are certainly accepted everyone.  It raises question on some legal language.  
He's always wondered why they appear to be somewhat confusing, some ambiguity.  NDOM's attorney has brought 
this out to them also.  We, being the State of Nevada, the experts so to speak on mining claims, we should have this 
down and it's time to revisit some of these forms.  He would like to recommend a review of the forms and possibly 
some revisions to make them more user friendly and to run them by some mining attorneys as well to get their input. 
What Commissioner Bryan passed out is generally the form that promotes the inclusion of ambiguous information 
particularly regarding ownership in the Certificate and Notice of Location forms.  There are a lot of forms involved 
other than the two forms passed out.  They are all on the website.  The Notice of Intent form allows for ambiguous 
language of the statute to the date of the Notice of Intent is made or recorded.  He's been told it's an irrelevant date, 
but it starts with a Certificate of Location.  This is used by many entities in the state both mining companies and 
individuals.  The first line up there, "The locator hereby certifies that he."  Well, it should be the undersigned 
certifies that it because it could be a person; it could be an entity; a company; et cetera.  Down at the bottom, the 
owner, the claimant, the agent; you're supposed to circle one of those, whichever you are.  Well, the locator is the 
owner.  For instance, if Company X is locating a claim, that should be the undersigned; Company X is located by 
John Doe.  If John Doe is locating the claim and it's by an agent, so that would be locator John Doe by See-More 
Hard Rock, title agent for the locator.  It needs to be clearer because when these things are filed, our attorney has 
brought out the fact that when there's litigation or there's property issues down the road, they have to go in and clean 
this up as to who the real owner is because there's the locator, there's the claimant, there's an agent, and if you don't 
put the agent down you don't know if that guy is the locator.  So Commissioner Bryan says it needs to be looked at.  
Then the Affidavit and Notice of Intent to Hold, Commissioner Bryan asks them to read that first paragraph and tell 
him what it says.  He bets a lot of people don't really understand what that really says.  He reads, "The undersigned 
certifies that the owner or claimant intended or intends to hold the mining claims, mill sites, and/or tunnel sites listed 
from 12:00 p.m. on September of the year before this Affidavit was made until 11:59 a.m. on September of the year 
that this Affidavit was made and recorded.  Commissioner Bryan states if you were to locate something on say 
August 1st of 2014 but you don't file it until September of 2015, what year are you filing it for?  And it's rather 
confusing.  Commissioner Bryan suggests maybe it's time to clean it up because these are suggested forms on our 
website.  Commissioner Bryan told Rich Perry he'd be happy to work with the staff to get it cleaned up.  He asked 
who on the staff Mr. Perry would suggest. 
 
Mr. Rich Perry clarified that Commissioner Bryan wants to form a taskforce to work on this and report back to. 
 
Commissioner Bryan suggested that Dave get involved and he would like to help out, and then come back possibly 
next time with recommended forms that they would then send out to three attorneys and to Bryan Stockton to make 
sure it conforms with the statutes, et cetera, but they have some attorneys out there that want to get involved to clean 
this up.  Commissioner Bryan believes it's part of their mandate to clean this up.  
 
Mr. Rich Perry then asked the Commissioner Bryan to assign him that taskforce and he will choose two members of 
the Commission.  
 
Commissioner Bryan so assigned Mr. Perry a taskforce.   
 
Mr. Perry clarified that he's to report back at the next meeting. 
 
Commissioner Bryan confirmed to report back at the next meeting and for possible action at the next meeting, but 
not necessarily.  They can look at it and tweak it more or some possible action.  No motion is needed to form a 
taskforce.  Commissioner Bryan asked for further discussion. 
 
Commissioner DeLong stated he brings up some good points and feels it's worth revisiting it.   
 
ACTION TAKEN:  Richard Perry to form taskforce and report back at next meeting 
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Brief break taken 
 

II. OLD BUSINESS 
 
A. Update on Marigold Royalty 

 
Using a PowerPoint© presentation, Mr. Russ Fields, Director of the Mackay School of Earth Sciences and 
Engineering at the University of Nevada in Reno, gave an update on the status of the Marigold Royalty.  He's talked 
to the Commission before about Marigold and has given the Commission background on Marigold, so this is for an 
update.  For those that have not seen the Marigold Mine in recent years, it's become a fairly significant open pit 
mine.  In the slide, they're looking at what's called the Mackay Pit.  That has to do with the ownership and royalty 
distribution.  The Commission is familiar with this operation.  The slide shows a major electric shovel working at 
the north end of the pit, hydraulic shovel, the truck fleet consisting of 400-ton Komatsu large loader, drilling pattern 
going over on this part of the pit.  These standards are holding the electric cable that is the umbilical to the big P&H 
shovel, which will be a close-up on the last slide.  The unique thing about the shovel is that each bucket load is about 
120 tons and three rather full bucket loads is about all one of those 400-ton trucks wants, which is pretty fast.  This 
is the background.  This will be repetitious to some certain members like Commissioner Bryan and John Snow and 
John Mudge.  Nevertheless, the University of Nevada owns a square mile of land, section 19 in the particular 
township in the area of what is now the Marigold Mine in Humboldt County.  That ground is subject to a mining 
lease between the current operator, which is Silver Standard Resources, and the university.  This is where the 
Commission comes in.  In 2008, an agreement was made between the university and the Nevada Commission on 
Mineral Resources where the Commission committed to support a funding mechanism to transfer approximately 
$400,000 per year to the Mackay School for money and exploration education.  This takes us back to the 
conversation about the $2 fee.  In turn, for that support, the university, the President at the time, Mil Glick, agreed to 
share its royalty from the mining lease with the Mackay School.  It's also important to note that at the time the 
production at the Marigold Mine was very limited and there were no obvious plans for major operations in the 
section of land the university owned.  So at the time, it seemed like this may or may not turn into something.  Now, 
what happens to the royalty money that is coming towards the Mackay School?  In February of this year, we 
completed the establishment of the Marigold Royalty Quasi-Endowment Agreement, and this is held within the 
UNR Foundation.  It's a strange term, a quasi-endowment.  The explanation is we know this is a one-time 
arrangement.  There is no donor.  The endowment will build until mining is no longer taking place.  The big part of 
it is there is no donor.  The endowment is where the royalty proceeds allocated for the Mackay School are directed.  
The proceeds for the endowment are to be used for the educational purposes in the Mackay School in support of 
mineral exploration and production at the direction of the Director of the Mackay School (Russ Fields) in 
consultation with the Dean of the College of Science (Jeff Thompson), and members of the Marigold Royalty 
Endowment Committee.  The Marigold Royalty Endowment Committee is made up of the Chairman of the Nevada 
Commission on Mineral Resources, one other designee from that Commission, two representatives of the Mackay 
Executive Advisory Board, a representative from Marigold Mining Company (the operator of the mine/Silver 
Standard), the Executive Director of UNR's foundation (Vice President John Carothers).  Mr. Carothers is an ex-
official position as are Director of the Mackay School and the Dean of the College of Science.  The Royalty 
Endowment Committee serves in an advisory capacity making recommendations to the Director and the Dean with 
regard to the endowment.  Where we are with the endowment is the royalty payments started to come into the 
university in late December 2013, late last year about a year ago.  The current balance that is now in the Mackay 
Marigold Royalty Endowment is just short of a million dollars as of yesterday, so approximately $1,000,000.  The 
spending authority to begin using those earnings is not going to be available until the first quarter of 2015.  
However, that doesn't mean spending has to start at that time.  There is no requirement to spend.  It's not a use it or 
lose it situation.  It can continue to build.  Those are the kind of decisions that we and the Committee are going to 
have to be looking at.  Now, how endowments at the university work, the endowment is held in the foundation and 
the monies in the endowment are invested pursuant to a Board of Trustees' oversight over the foundation director. 
They determine what the suitable investments are for foundation money.  The other thing the trustees decide on an 
annual basis is what is the earnings rate that can be put back to the spending authority and the current rate is 4.5 
percent.  So the spending authority on $1,000,000 is $45,000, which is nice but to have enough of a fund to identify 
and attract a chairman of a department it's probably in the neighborhood that you need spending authority around 
$300,000 or so.  So it's a start.  It's not going to make huge changes, but it is so important to have this mechanism, 
and we've learned a lot about the Marigold Mine in Section 19, and it is in an area that they expect to be mining for 
several years at least.  The other thing learned about this particular section, and Administrator Perry is cognizant of 
this situation, the cutoff is .005 and high grade is .035.  Those are OPT.  The recent decline in the price of gold, at 
this point; no changes are immediately planned at this mine.  You can see with a mine operation like this that that's a 
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fairly narrow margin.  This is the large shovel shown at the beginning.  This is P&H 4100.  That holds nominally 
120 tons.  This holds 400 tons, which is rather impressive.  Mr. Fields states that he had the good fortune after 
visiting the mine March of last spring of accompanying Fred Gibson and some other friends out to the property.   
 
Commissioner Gibson stated he had a nice time visiting the Marigold Mine. 
 
Mr. Fields stated he'd be happy to answer any questions. 
 
Commissioner Bryan asked for any questions. 
 
Commissioner Mudge asked if there's any kind of rough forecast going forward. 
 
Mr. Fields stated they did, but he believes it's being revised on a near daily basis at the mine, so he has nothing he 
could tell you with any degree of certainty.   
 
NO ACTION NEEDED   
    
D.   Summary of items discussed by the Well Spacing and Setback Taskforce (Item D on agenda is taken out 
of order per request) 
 
Using a handout, Mr. Lowell Price gave a summary on the Well Spacing Taskforce established last spring.  The 
group associated with the taskforce met twice in April and May.  Essentially, the taskforce covered numerous 
aspects of oil and gas related to well spacing.  The taskforce also discussed issues related to setbacks, drilling unit 
size, unitization, federal units, vertical segregation of reservoirs, commingling of oil, flaring, directional drilling 
whether it be inclined for a particular target or an actual horizontal oil, correlative rights, and forced pooling.  In the 
handout, many of these subjects are covered by existing NRS or NAC statutes or regulations.  Mr. Price illustrated 
three of the aspects related to the potential of horizontal drilling in Nevada and those three items will be well 
spacing, setbacks, and the drilling unit size.  Current regulations (back page of handout), this is what typically has 
been established or the regulations that are established for conventional type drilling in Nevada for both shallow oil 
and shallow gas and deep oil and deep gas.  The setbacks remain the same for oil whether it is above 5,000 feet or 
below.  The taskforce came to the determination that they really need to concentrate on the establishment of 
particular regulations related to horizontal drilling, the well spacing setbacks, and the drilling unit sizes related to 
those.  Looking at the diagram, a horizontal well, an 8,000-foot lateral, could literally go from this lower southeast 
corner section, an 8,000-foot lateral drilling to the north, you could go up into the northeast corner of the section 
above it with that lateral.  So basically, it would be best if regulations were developed specifically related to that; not 
only setbacks from the actual point of the well but setbacks to either lease boundaries, section lines, and so forth.  
That should be the focus of moving forward, is to establish similar regulations that are in place in other states like 
Utah, Wyoming, Colorado, Arkansas.  Art and Mike recently met with a group of regulators in Salt Lake City at the 
Utah Oil and Gas Division in which well spacing related to horizontal drilling was discussed, and the taskforce 
needs to establish a well spacing method more or less dependent on the effective drainage area so the operator can 
utilize that to recover all the oil available or gas within that section that they would be drilling. 
 
Commissioner Henderson added the point that with the legislation coming up that this is something that needs to be 
done but it's not something that has to be done immediately. 
 
Mr. Price agreed with the statement. 
 
Commissioner Henderson further stated that the administrator can make these decisions without any problems, so 
since this is for possible action this probably should wait until after the legislation period has been completed. 
 
Mr. Price fully agreed with the statement and added that in the event the BDR actually becomes law to where it 
gives the funds to pursue these actions, then Mr. Price would recommend to begin to draft regulations for the 
Commissions review to move forward.  However, if the BDR does not pass, funds would not be in place in order to 
pursue what's been discussed with all the related activities associated with moving the hydraulic fracturing 
regulations forward with all the workshops and so forth. 
 
Commissioner Henderson stated the need for the regulations is going to be there even if the BDR doesn't get passed. 
He further states the Commission may still have to act even without the funding. 
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Mr. Price stated what he was referring to was more or less providing more detailed-type regulations.  The existing 
regulations allows the Division to handle the horizontal drilling now.  Basically, an operator can come to the 
Division, file an application, in which he wants to deviate from the established regulation.  The Division would 
review it and Rich would either say yes and issue a special order for that particular well, or it would be disapproved.  
So currently the ability is there to take care of that.  However, if regulations were established and drilling units were 
say 640 acres were established in regulation, then that might cut down on the need.  
 
Commissioner Henderson stated some companies will come for much larger and that's not in the regulations, so if 
there is success in the oil and gas industry this will be too much of a burden on the administrator and the staff as we 
have now.  With or without passage of the BDR, Commissioner Henderson believes this has to be looked at after the 
legislative session. 
 
Commissioner Snow asked about statewide spacing for oil, given there's no definition to distinguish between oil 
wells and gas wells, only addresses 160-acre units so the mechanism that Mr. Price is referring to would be an 
exception location to 160 acres. 
 
Mr. Price indicated that was right, an exception to the regulation in which they would file application with the 
Division.  A hearing would be set.  Mr. Price and Rich and Mike would review the application.  The operator would 
come to the hearing, lay out all information needed to support what they wanted to do, and then a determination 
would be made whether or not an order could be issued for that.   
 
Commissioner Snow recommended that if Mr. Price does get into a situation where he needs to evaluate and give an 
exception to vertical statewide rules or horizontal that maybe it would be temporary and subject to revision based on 
performance of the well. 
 
Mr. Price stated that all the orders would be a temporary order.   
 
Commissioner Snow stated there's a big difference between distributing the money one way and redistributing it a 
second way, so if other states are looked at then temporary spacing is a very formal process that is succeeded by 
proper formal spacing after the well has got enough performance data to tell the proper drainage area. 
 
Mr. Price stated in terms of the drilling unit size would all be determined on the effective drainage of that well, and 
that wouldn't be known until after the well has been drilled and it has produced for a while in order to determine 
what that drainage area is and then that would affect the correlative rights of the various mineral interest owners. 
 
Commissioner Snow stated not to put yourself in a position of having to distribute the monies differently.  
 
Mr. Rich Perry stated that in the next seven months that if there is a request for a hearing which would trigger this, 
and that mechanism is in their administrative code, that Mr. Perry would want to have a couple people from the 
Commission at the hearing to help with the determination on that because that hasn't been faced before and they 
would want to think it out pretty well.  Mr. Perry thought that based on the activity level he wasn't sure if there 
would be a request, but that it could be.  He saw the logic in the timing of this going back to if the bill draft is 
successful then NAC 522 will be opened up to set fees, and Mr. Perry thought setting the fees and doing this because 
this is also in NAC 522 at the same time in the second half of this upcoming year makes sense instead of doing it 
separately because of the time involvement, doing workshops all at once, doing small business impact statements, so 
Mr. Perry suggested asking or directing staff to come up with as best a draft as they could with the Commission to 
look at after July 1st because the Commission is frozen in doing any rule making until after the legislature is done. 
 
Mr. Price stated the Commission can be researching what other states have already done so they don't go down paths 
that didn't work and it would help shortcut the process and pick and choose what other states have done to see how 
well they will fit within Nevada. 
 
Commissioner Henderson stated his recommendation would be not to do anything until the legislature is over, 
maybe until the middle of summer, because if there's not activity there's no real need to open up 522 even if BDR is 
not approved.  If BDR is approved, then they may or may not have to open up, so they need to see what is the 
activity in the state, because as of now they have had zero horizontal wells drilled. 
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Mr. Price stated that was correct. 
 
Commissioner Snow stated he agreed with Commissioner Henderson because there's four highly prospective areas 
in Nevada right now, and three of those are all within federal units which are outside the need for proper spacing for 
unconventional wells.  So there's only one area that the Commission is likely to get an application for a horizontal 
well where we don't have a mechanism to properly space it.  
 
Mr. Price stated he agreed, and that it doesn't mean that somebody may not come in and permit a well application in 
White River Valley next week and they hit and they go for it.  So Mr. Price thought they needed to be prepared. 
 
Commissioner Henderson stated they already had an application for a horizontal well that's not in a BLM land. 
 
Mr. Price stated that was correct; that it hadn't been drilled yet. 
 
Commissioner Henderson stated just one area, but that it hasn't been approved yet. 
 
Mr. Price stated they had approved it. 
 
Commissioner Henderson stated the horizontal well remains in one section only. 
 
Mr. Price stated that was right and all the mineral rights remain the same.   
 
ACTION TAKEN:  Commissioner Bryan tabled the item until after the legislative session and asked Mr. 
Perry to put it on the agenda next summer. 
 
B.   Recommendations on geothermal fee       
 
Using a PowerPoint© presentation, Mr. Eric Langenfeld presented the recommendations on geothermal fees.  Mr. 
Langenfeld stated that at the last Commission meeting a taskforce made up of Commissioner Henderson, 
Commissioner Snow, Administrator Perry, and Mr. Langenfeld looked at the costs of the geothermal program and 
the fee revenue we were getting to see if it was paying for the program.  On the first page of the slide, was a 
breakdown of all the costs incurred by the program in 2014.   
 
Mr. Stockton stated just to make it clear for the record, the PowerPoint© title indicated oil and gas but they are 
talking about geothermal.   
 
Mr. Langenfeld stated these are all the costs occurring for the geothermal program, and the bottom shows the fee 
revenue taken in in 2014.  So it left us around $44,000 deficient in what we were spending.  The next slide showed a 
breakdown of all the 2014 drilling.  Mr. Langenfeld went through all the records and put in all the production, 
injection, observational, thermal gradient, and domestic wells that we had drilled and then also the sundry fees, the 
administrative fees, and the annual fees for 2014 equaling a revenue of $120,750, which the last slide had the same 
total for 2014.  We looked at changing permit prices and looked at changing the fee prices and changing the sundry 
fee prices to try to manipulate to get around to pay for the program.  It was recommended that we do not touch the 
permit fees because we don't want to discourage any resource companies that are looking to expand.  We decided 
that we did not want to increase sundry fees because we wanted to make sure that the resource companies were 
informing us on what they were doing with their wells.  So what we then went to was an open hole fee for an 
observation well, and an open hole fee for thermal gradient well.  Those would be $100.  Right now, there's no fee 
for them.  That would be an annual fee.  Also, one of the incentives behind this one would be if a resource company 
was not using that observation or thermal gradient well then they you’d have some incentive in plugging it because 
we're going to be charging them every year for it.  Then also a cuttings fee of $500, that mainly is to curate the 
samples at Nevada Bureau of Mines and Geology.  Then, also increase the annual fee for the wells that are injecting 
and producing from $475 a year to $600 ultimately a year.  Then, in the total fees column, the revenue that would've 
been generated in 2014 and look at the 2014 total cost of the program at the bottom is that $164,888.  With the 
added on additional revenue of $53,629, the program itself would be funded.  The fees that would be funding the 
program would be $174,379, so it's pretty close to what we're spending plus it gives a margin for error.  The annual 
fees we have given a pretty good idea of what we're going to be getting in per year, but we don't have a good idea of 
future activity.  We can look at rates, but we can't predict exactly what that will be.  Then, also in the packet, there's 
a last page that folds out.  If we're to add the additional fee structure in, the revenues for the last three years are on 
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there. So the Division's recommendation is to implement a $100 a year for observation well and temperature 
gradient well open hole fee, implement a cuttings fee to $500 per hole to help pay for the NBMG curation and 
increase the annual fees from $475 a year to $600 a year.  The process would be that there is no rulemaking through 
to July 1st, 2015, draft language for approval by the Commission, begin process July 1st, 2015.   
 
Commissioner Snow acknowledged and thanked Mr. Langenfeld for a really good staff job of putting all the 
numbers and statistics together for the group.   
 
Commissioner DeLong asked Mr. Stockton on the process that if they choose to move forward with this can they be 
reviewing or approving language for regulations prior to July 1st, 2015. 
 
Mr. Stockton stated yes, they could approve the language that's going to LCB to start the process, so they could do 
that at any time and tell staff you approve this language once July 1st passes or August 1st actually, and then you 
can submit the draft to LCB.  So you can do that before the deadline, but the filing with LCB is what starts the 
rulemaking process.   
 
Commissioner Henderson recommended tabling the matter until the second meeting of 2015 also.  He didn't see any 
other things to do at this point because even if they were able to write the language now they're going to be very 
busy during the legislative period so to have the proper time he thought if they start in July of 2015 they'll have 
enough time.   
 
Mr. Perry stated that the language is pretty simple.  He stated they could do the language and have it ready for the 
second meeting in May or June for the Commission to take a look at to make a determination.  What he thinks could 
be done on this particular one because they're not waiting for legislation on it and there's not a lot to the language 
they would do in this because that chapter is pretty much set up with some of this type of stuff in there.  We just 
changed the $475 to $600, add a few sentences to the temperature gradient holes and the cuttings fee, if you wanted 
to look at it by then.  And then he thinks its July 1st. 
 
Mr. Stockton stated July 1st is correct. 
 
Mr. Perry stated then you could look at the language, comment, bless it, and then we could start the process.  Mr. 
Perry believed also if this is the direction the Commission wants to go he thought they could socialize this with the 
industry be it discussions, we're trying to true up the program, we're probably going to have to raise some fees and 
let them know even though it won't be a workshop because they can't do a workshop until the fall of 2015, but he 
thought it would be good to socialize it.  
 
Commissioner Bryan asked who would do that. 
 
Mr. Perry stated that he and Mr. Price had talked about doing that. 
 
Commissioner Snow stated the end date won't change.  The target date in terms of new monies coming in will be 
subject to that. 
 
Commissioner Bryan asked for a motion. 
 
ACTION TAKEN: John Snow made a Motion to direct the staff to formalize language along the 
recommendations in the exhibit for the second meeting in July of 2015, which was seconded by Art 
Henderson and unanimously approved. 
 
C.   Recommendations on mining claim fees 
 
Mr. Perry stated the Mining Claim Fee Taskforce had two meetings, and that committee was made up of 
Commissioner Mudge, Commissioner Bryan, Commissioner Parker, and Mr. Perry as the Administrator.  The goal 
of the taskforce was to look at the current claims and what revenues were coming out of that.  That was seen earlier 
when Lucia Patterson presented her numbers.  Mr. Perry stated he would read through the findings, and the taskforce 
more or less came to a recommendation at the end.  The claim fees are a large part of the Commission's funding, 
about 80 percent this last year, and they are seeing declining claim fee revenues.  The Commission is cutting back 
on AML activities as that is what gets removed in this and a lot of that is the contracted work activities that we have 
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done more of in the past and the exploration survey which we did not fund this last year.  We concluded that the 
process by which if we determined that we wanted to go through a claim fee increase, we currently collect $8.50.  
There's a cap of $10 between two different fees that are defined there, but the total is $10 and $2 of that is collected 
for Mackay so we're collecting $6.50.  The taskforce concluded that to go through the process of trying to increase it 
for a small amount was fairly significant in cost as there are a lot of claim holders out there and the small business 
impact statement on this one is going to be fairly significant.  If there was going to be a fee change, that we should 
probably do something for something larger going into the future.  Ultimately, the taskforce concluded that the 
proper time to go back and review claim fees is not in 2015 because in 2015 we need to move through the oil, gas, 
and geothermal fee increases and it's probably about all the capacity our organization can handle to be opening two 
chapters into the second half and to go back and look at this at the beginning of 2016 when we know what claim fees 
for 2015/'16 AY are for next year.  So the taskforce recommendation is to review this one again, go through the 
same process that we did at this meeting, look at these numbers at the final meeting of 2015 and see what claim fees 
are, look at what our costs are, see if we've been successful.  By then we'll know raising geothermal and oil fees and 
what that would do for us from a funding standpoint and then reviewing it in early 2016.   
 
Commissioner Parker asked on question five, that he wasn't quite grasping, you said you could increase the amount 
of work you could do on AMLs by $400,000 a year and was wondering if that was predicated on BLM funding. 
 
Mr. Perry stated no, this was actually a question that Commissioner Mudge asked, which is documented, because 
these are from the minutes of the last meeting, and Commissioner Mudge asked if we had more money could we 
supercharge this program and get a lot more of these closures done if we had more resources, revenues and so forth. 
That question I posed to Rob and Mike who have been intimately involved with this in the past of how much could 
you handle if you had an unlimited amount of dollars to do that, and the conclusion was somewhere around 
$400,000 a year, which we've never done before. 
 
Mr. Ghiglieri commented that one of the reasons they have it at that money is because the very end of that last 
sentence says, "other agencies ability to sign-off on the work."  So we have to get categorical exclusions to do any of 
these hard closures.  Sometimes we wait over a year to get these done.  Sometimes we can get them done if it's an 
emergency in a matter of a week.  The majority of the time it's six to eight months.  So for us to get these done, we 
have to get a BLM or Forest Service archeologist and wildlife biologist out to every one of these sites and get 
investigations on these.  So it's a very slow process.  We can get large chunks done, but realistically to get more than 
$400,000 out a year we're going to have to increase not only our staff but we'd have to rely on BLM or Forest 
Service to increase their staff, which is not going to be a realistic goal.   
 
Commissioner Gibson stated that he missed some of the comments, but he wanted to remind the Commission that 
the last time around he and Alan negotiated with Senator Raggio allowing a substantial increase in fees to be taken 
in increments as we needed it so that we did not have to return to the legislature every time we wanted to increase 
the fees.  We lived that way for a long time and invariably it was very difficult.  So however this thing is structured, 
it ought to follow that example.  It worked very well for us, and he thought Alan would confirm that.   
 
Mr. Perry stated that Commissioner Gibson and he had that talk too and the cap right now is $6 and $4 for a total of 
$10.  The last time it was raised was a number of years ago, and we are approaching it, if we do another raise of 
$1.50 we're going to hit the cap.  So it would take legislation to raise that cap, which he thinks should probably be 
considered.  It's too late in this session because we're not there at the cap yet, but the session after this we'll probably 
want to consider a BDR to do that.   
 
Commissioner Bryan stated that that would go along with their review in 2016 of the fees, so that would dovetail 
right in.  Commissioner Bryan asks for further comments.  No indication was given.  Commissioner Bryan tables the 
matter until the next meeting.   
 
E.   Update on 2013 Performance Audit 
 
Mr. Mike Visher asked the Commission to turn to Tab E in the handout.  Mr. Visher stated if they recalled, they 
went through a fairly lengthy audit review by LCB, who are on a seven-year cycle so we had one seven years prior. 
We had their auditor in our office for seven or eight months reviewing a number of programs, and they issued some 
recommendations at the conclusion of that, which was a year ago.  We then put forth our recommendations for 
addressing their conclusions and findings, so essentially corrective actions.  It is required that the Department of 
Administration and their Audit Division review where we were in that process, and then they submit their findings 
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to the Legislative Audit Committee and back to LCB.  That auditor was only in our office for about an hour-and-a-
half and in two weeks in a letter that really didn't say much except than we still had work to do.  Turning to the 
second page of the letter in Tab E, at the very bottom in the last paragraph is the most pertinent.  "Based on our 
review of the six-month report and other documents provided, we believe the Division has met the intent of the 
recommendations deemed partially implemented by the Department of Administration.  Therefore, we consider all 
recommendations to be fully implemented at this time and do not have any questions for Division officials."  This 
was presented at the Legislative Audit Commission and they approved and passed it and we're done.  So I think 
we've made great headway, and we still have a little bit of work to fine-tune some of the database aspects for 
capturing the well inspection, but the AML Group has done a phenomenal job to band-aid and retrofit our existing 
access database to address all of the concerns and capture all of the interactions that we have with agencies, 
claimants, with each other to capture all those things and notify the county as we're required to, but it required a 
huge amount of work especially by Debbie in the Las Vegas office to modify her database.  We're at the limit of 
what access can handle, which is really good to see, we're going to have robust database to take us to the next level 
and allow us to do everything we're required to but much more efficiently.  We'll be able to capture the information, 
provide it to other agencies, counties, and claimants and property owners.  The bottom line is we did what we were 
supposed to do, we did it in a timely manner, and they didn't have any questions or concerns.   
 
Commissioner Bryan stated that on behalf of the Commission, congratulations on doing a great job and to the rest of 
the staff as well.  This looks like they might leave us alone for a while.   
 
Mr. Perry stated that Mr. Visher has been on this throughout and he credits him largely with driving the resolutions. 
He's done a wonderful job along with Rob and Lowell, because he got to inspect 600 wells this last year largely 
because the MOU that we have with the BLM they're not inspecting so we really kind of took a beating for 
something that should've been happening there.   
 
NO ACTION NEEDED; FOR DISCUSSION ONLY 
 
F.   Education and Outreach 
 
Using a PowerPoint© presentation, Mr. Bill Durbin went through one of the Divisions very important functions, 
which is education and public outreach.  Under the Division performance indicators, staff are required to do one 
presentation per month per staff person.  So with our staff of 11, that would mean 132 individual presentations per 
year.  Mr. Durbin stated he's happy to report that for calendar year 2014 through December 5th staff have made 162 
presentations, so we're at about 123 percent of the performance indicators.  The outreach has gotten to at least 6,700 
people.  Mr. Durbin stated he divided things up by various target audience; civic clubs, groups, organizations.  Of 
the 162, we had 128 presentations.  The variety of people and organizations can be seen that the Division has 
reached; county Commissions, special events, and so on.  The information is a lot more accessible nowadays thanks 
to Valerie who set up a public outreach spreadsheet, so every time one of us does a presentation it gets added to the 
spreadsheet so it makes tracking our activities a lot better and a lot easier.  The big thing, of course, has been 
classroom presentations, outreach at school events, and so forth.  113 of the presentations have been to schools or 
education types of activities.  The Nevada Science Olympiad, we did that for the first time back in March of this 
year and have been asked to come back and do it again next year at Clark High School.  So basically, we'll be in 
charge of setting up the rock and mineral test for junior high and high school kids statewide for competitions.  We've 
done some that are strictly AML-targeted presentations.  Now, basically, there's a component of AML in virtually all 
of our publications because it's such an important part of the Division's function.  The PowerPoint© presentation 
showed the groups the Division has reached out to with pretty much AML presentations.  So staff-by-staff person of 
January 1st through December 5th and went through a list of everybody in alphabetical order and these are the 
numbers of presentations that we have recorded by each staff person who has done presentations.  Rachel Wearne 
did a lot of them before she left.  Of the total, 88 presentations have been in various parts of Northern Nevada, 72 in 
Southern Nevada, and 2 at various out-of-state venues.   
 
Commissioner Bryan asked about the out of state. 
 
Mr. Durbin stated Mike did presentations in State Lake City, Utah and TRC in Oregon.  Mr. Durbin thought they 
had had a very good year overall.  He had done quite a few presentations because he has a network down south and 
when he goes to a school or some event he gets tagged with next year's calendar.  Things coming up for December, 
Rich has two more presentations not on the list that have already been done.  He and Mike both have more 
presentations before the end of the year.  Mr. Durbin talked about how they are coming to the end of the calendar 
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year with Eagle Scout projects.  They've done 11 completions, 8 in Clark County.  Rob has done 3 up here, so we've 
completed 154 projects.  We have just under 700 mines secured and 136 have been re-secured.  Regarding the 
December 13th project that may be delayed by weather and the final sign-off approval hasn't been obtained from the 
Eagle Board yet.  If they're able to get that done, they'll go over 700 securings for a total this year.  
 
Commissioner Bryan stated the Nevada Mining Association had their annual board meeting in Las Vegas last month 
and one of the trips was to the McCaw School of Mines and Bills name came up a couple of times of being very 
instrumental in helping them out, so Commissioner Bryan complimented Bill for being their face in Las Vegas and 
that's where the population is.  When help is needed down there from the mining industry, how much resources does 
Bill get down there to draw on; who does Bill go to? 
 
Mr. Durbin stated he sent out something to GSN in the hopes that someone in the Southern Nevada Chapter will 
chip in. 
 
Commissioner Bryan asked if they ever help. 
 
Mr. Durbin stated he had an overwhelming thing that came up but had to cancel it because of illness, the First Friday 
event held in the Arts District.  They're telling me that can bring in 30,000 people, so that was supposed to be on 
December 5th.  They contacted him about a week-and-a-half before so there wasn't much time to prepare.  He did 
send a notice out to GSN.  He got one call the day before and one call the week after for GSN.  He basically got no 
response from NMA. 
 
Commissioner Bryan asked who he contacts at NMA. 
 
Mr. Durbin stated he usually contacts Joe. 
 
Commissioner Bryan asked about UNLV, if there's a student chapter up there of geologists. 
 
Mr. Durbin stated that most of the students belong to the southern chapter of GSN.  Mr. Durbin asked for other ideas 
on who to contact.   
 
Commissioner Bryan stated there's a lot of industrial mineralist people down there and he asked Mr. Durbin if he 
ever talks to them. 
 
Mr. Durbin stated not really because they don't think they're mining; they think they're quarrying.  He stated they 
have very limited access to them because they don't want to be associated with miners. 
 
Commissioner Bryan asked about AGC. 
 
Mr. Durbin stated he hasn't really pursued them much and that might be a good avenue to go to.  He's done 
presentations for them and attended their meetings. 
 
Commissioner Bryan stated in the newspaper yesterday Barrick is moving their IT office to Las Vegas, 25 people, 
and are moving it from Toronto, and there may not be a lot of earth science-type people in that office, but that might 
be of help. 
 
Mr. Durbin stated they are good with assistance on McCaw.  In past years they had done Earth Day and did a big 
thing.   
 
Commissioner Bryan stated he was talking about some of the employees that are moving to Las Vegas. 
 
Mr. Durbin stated he'll be pounding on their door.                       
 
Mr. Perry stated he joined NDOM just a year ago and that these presentations are enjoyable to do to get out to these 
civic organizations and so forth.  He further stated that they reached 6,700 people and the vote that just happened 
was by 3,500 votes and thinks that all the efforts that have gone into this for all the years that people put into it 
maybe had an impact.      
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NO ACTION TAKEN    
 
III. STAFF REPORTS 

 
1) Mining/Reclamation Pool – Mike Visher stated the first page of tab 4, snapshot on the bond pool that things continue 

to be very slow as everybody knows.  The takeaway on this is the exploration community is finding it hard to come up 
with monies to do new projects and they have to wait a significant amount of time before they see the refund of their 
deposits for projects.  The work can take two to three years for vegetation to take place for those releases and we're 
seeing quite a few companies go bankrupt, get swallowed up by other companies, and in order for those participants to 
stay in the bond pool regardless of the level of obligation they have they still have to pay the 2 percent annual 
premium for the bond pool on the amount of the bond and we continue to have to send out termination notices to 
companies that no longer exist.  The whole point of the bond pool is to have money set aside so there is monies in the 
bond pool for somebody to do reclamation work and in the third quarter a call was made for some money on a project 
where the operator is no longer around, we have the money, they requested that we transfer the money and the money 
went to the field which is how it's supposed to work and there are six more pending.  BLM is getting ready to request 
that money but they still have procedures they have to put in place and letters to certify out, wait for 30 days, and then 
do another notice.  Commissioner DeLong asked if those are all notices.  Mr. Visher stated these are all notices.  In 
one example, Mr. Visher stated they still do not have payment due by September for a project and they have 70 days 
by the end of the due date at which time they can be terminated.  So notification has been made and it's a significant 
amount.  The deposit they have is almost $200,000 in the bond pool and the premium is $2,769 every quarter.  They 
are looking at losing $200,000 for lack of a $2,700 payment.  All we can do is point it out to them.  Since this is a plan 
level operation both BLM and NDP are notified.  The bond pool is still very healthy, 123 percent funded.  
Commissioner DeLong asked what kind of operation is the Nevada Ray.  Mr. Visher stated it's a placer operation.  
Commissioner Mudge asked if he understood correctly that the BLM secured the money from NDOM and used it to 
do the work on the ground.  Mr. Visher responded that was correct.  Mr. Visher stated it has been a challenge getting 
the field offices to work together to get this done and we're trying to educate the different field offices.  There is a 
separate account the monies go into and it's held until the field office needs to put it to work and they code it to the 
notice number so the monies are always tagged to that notice but there's a pot of money that's available for the field 
office to use for reclamation projects.  Commissioner DeLong asked about TNT Venture.  Mr. Visher stated they had 
just paid.  Commissioner Parker asked if BLM got back to you and what stage they're in.  Mr. Visher stated they 
notified the participants when they were getting ready to be terminated from the bond.  We give 30 days’ notice before 
terminating.  At the same time, the BLM is notified.  At that point, the BLM state office sends out a letter to the 
operator stating you are 30 days away from being terminated from the State of Nevada bond pool and if you are 
terminated you have to supply a new bond or proof of a bond to the state office.  They can leave the bond pool, but the 
BLM will still require a new bond be put in place and if they don't they will seek action against the operator, but that's 
another process the BLM does.  Commissioner Parker asked how far along in the process are they?  Mr. Visher stated 
on the one they requested money, there was a small amount of earth work that needed to be done and that was done, 
and surface seeding was done.  So it will be a couple years before the re-vegetation takes place and is completed but 
with regards to onsite reclamation that was completed.  There are six others in the same situation but the authority 
stays with the field office to make that happen.  Commissioner Parker asked if he has heard back on whether the funds 
were sufficient for the reclamation.  Mr. Visher stated he did not.   

 
2) Oil, Gas, and Geothermal - Lowell Price stated he would go through the activity for the year to date and give a few 

more details on what's happened within the Elko area, Railroad Valley and so forth.  This year four production wells 
have been permitted.  Three have been drilled.  Ormat has just completed another production well in McGinness Hills. 
They have one more permit for a production well in McGinness Hills.  They are currently building the second 
generation unit at McGinness Hills rated at 54 megawatts.  Ormat has permits in place to drill at Wild Rose, south of 
Dixie Valley.  There's no indication of when of if that will occur, but they do have plans to expand production in Wild 
Rose as well earlier this year.  They have two permits in place to start drilling additional production.  Ormat also 
permitted two injection wells and drilled two injection wells; one at Steamboat and one at McGinness Hills.  Ten 
observations wells have been permitted this year and two have been drilled.  U.S. Geothermal reentered an observation 
well that they began to drill in early 2014 and completed that well located in San Emidio.  They are looking to expand 
the reserve at San Emidio and may be permitted to either 6 TG or observation wells in the future.  U.S.G. is also 
looking at possibly drilling in Crescent Valley.  Domestic wells, we permitted 4 wells already in existence and that 
was out of the Stillwater area and issued four other permits for domestic wells this year.  Oil wells, 12 permits were 
issued in 2014.  In 2014, 5 of those wells were drilled.  Over the past year when Noble was active in Nevada, the first 
round of activity, 7 oil wells have been drilled in Nevada; 4 by Noble, one by SAM Oil, one by Tetuan, and one by 
Andromeda at Tomera Ranch.  Of the 4 wells Noble has drilled, 3 have been hydraulic fractured.  The one near Jiggs 
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was the most recent stimulation activity.  They drilled a well in the Mary's River area.  After that, they moved the rig 
back to Colorado so Noble is not currently drilling within the state.  Tetuan plugged and abandoned their well.  
Andromeda had a discovery.  That well has been put on production.  We don't know what it's capable of producing yet. 
Hopefully, by end of December, we'll have an idea of production.  Commissioner Snow asked if that's in Tomera 
Ranch.  Mr. Price stated it was in Tomera Ranch close to a well that V.F. Neuhaus had previously drilled.  Sam Webb 
(owner of Andromeda Oil) drilled to the west of that and struck.  The hydraulic fracturing that took place in the Jiggs 
area, that was on private or fee surface BLM minerals and BLM was there to witness the fracturing as well and all 
went quite well with no major problems.  Mr. Price stated he witnessed the fracturing for the Portuguese Mountain 
14A-12 well in the more northern portion of the producing area of Railroad Valley on November 23rd.  It was actually 
a nitrogen gas fracturing in which the water they used for the fracture was produced formation water so they didn't 
utilize any freshwater for that fracturing.  Actually, the water was utilized to create foam by the introduction of 
nitrogen into the water and it was actually what they call a foam frack.  Makoil is currently going through the process 
of cleaning up that well and hopefully bringing it in.  That's the activity that's been going on lately.  There are permit 
applications in from Petro-Hunt, one from EFT Nevada, LLC in the Jiggs area as well, and one application in for 
Railroad Valley, and one for Makoil.  They are all waiting on notification of BLM approval before moving forward.  
The price of oil has dropped significantly over the last few months.  That could be a double-edged sword and people 
are looking at it from a negative standpoint.  However, it can be looked at as an opportunity because you can get oil 
rigs for far cheaper and drill for less money than normally.  Activity may stay up due to being able to drill a hole 
deeper.  In general, oil activity may slide a bit.  Geothermal activity, there are some potential projects.  ML drilled an 
observation well recently.  Commissioner Snow asked which one of the oil wells is the unconventional one that's 
permitted, the horizontal well.  Mr. Price stated the horizontal well is incorporated within the 12 permits issued.  It was 
actually issued as a slight directional well and came back in with a sundry wanting to change the drilling program from 
a slight directional well to a horizontal well.  We approved that.  That would be in the Humboldt lease area.  
Commissioner Snow asked if it's a reentry or a new well.  Mr. Price stated it was a new well and they are utilizing the 
same pad.  Commissioner Henderson stated he sent a letter, not as a Commissioner but as a citizen, to Governor 
Sandoval and Senator Heller recommending that we look at putting import anti-dumping tariff's on foreign oil and 
we've already had a nice discount from the consumer point of view, but if the price of oil is allowed to drop you stop 
the domestic production and stop the exploration in Nevada.  Commissioner Henderson stated he heard back from 
Governor Sandoval and he is concerned about the price of oil and the exploration in Nevada.  Mr. Price stated that was 
good to hear.     

 
3) Correspondence - Mr. Perry stated that Noble Energy entered into an agreement last year to do what's called the aqua 

study, the second of those reports will be out this week and we will link it to our site.  They had pre-fracking and post-
fracking water chemistry for the first two wells drilled.  Mr. Perry stated in his short year he's had two contacts at the 
Governor's Office, the Chief of Staff who left and the Deputy Chief of Staff who is gone now too, so my new contact 
is going to be Chris Nielsen, Deputy Chief of Staff.  Mr. Perry will be meeting with him in the next couple of weeks.  
The Governor's Office at a meeting several months ago asked if we are interfacing with GOED enough on major 
projects in mining.  Mr. Perry stated he started reaching out to Chris Sanchez in Las Vegas, who is their financial 
person, who goes out and travels the world and finds financers who want to finance things in Nevada.  Mr. Perry has 
facilitated a phone conversation between General Moly and a financer to get them talking and gave a presentation on 
other mining projects where people are looking for financing.  Mr. Perry stated he gave a presentation to the Office of 
Energy on major mining projects coming down the pipeline and how that will affect energy and opportunities for 
energy production for mines that have an electrical grid to them.  Mr. Perry stated there's a number of letters and he 
pointed out a letter to County Recorders and during their annual convention, Mr. Perry got correspondence from them 
and they were discussing mining claim fees and the Division went through a few things because they found that some 
counties were doing things different than others. One clarification that was put out was what they should be collecting 
because they collect this money for us and do us a great service by statute, and the clarification was on Amended 
Certificates of Location which actually had been clarified in the past but as one of the County Recorders brought 
forward an Attorney General opinion of 1985 the way some counties were doing this if someone had to file an 
Amended Certificate of Location, they just filed one and collected one fee.  The Attorney General's opinion stated you 
have to collect one fee for each one of the claims so we had to do a clarification so it was clear as to what it should be.  
Nothing has been heard back on.  Commissioner DeLong asked on any updates on NDEP.  Mr. Perry talked about an 
updated on the Memorandum of Understanding that we've been updating with them, stating several months ago when 
doing the hydraulic fracturing regulations we realized the old MOU was going to be obsolete and it was in some areas 
unworkable, so we decided to throw it all out and start all over again.  We've since done one draft at a meeting and 
edited that draft last week, so it will go back to discussion with NDEP and it will focus on what each organization does 
with regards to those hydraulic fracturing regulations and will address such needs as requiring water samples within a 
mile around a well and that chemistry is specific. We're clarifying that with some of the companies because the aqua 
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study really covered the period pre-hydraulic fracturing rates but as of October 24, 2014 when the legislature approved 
these the new regulations are in place so any well permitted after that date now falls under our regulations which is 
different than what the AQUA study was doing.  Within a month or two months, those will be finalized as time allows 
and they do address needs for assistance in looking at water chemistry because we don't have that in-house expertise.  
We need that from NDEP, and we've set up a time next month in January where jointly NDOM staff and NDEP staff 
will go over the understanding of the water analyses they did, so we have a working knowledge of all that. It also 
outlines the crossover with UIC re-injection wells that they permit and how we help them with that and notify 
operators of what they need to do.  Commissioner Gibson stated that he's discussed his future with Mr. Perry and 
thought it would be an appropriate time to tell everyone that he will complete his sojourn as Chairman of the 
Commission at the meeting in February in Las Vegas, which completes an odyssey that began in 1970 on an advisory 
mining board.  The Commission was created in 1983, so Commissioner Gibson believes that is long enough, and he 
looks forward to seeing everyone in Las Vegas.   

           
 

COMMENTS BY THE GENERAL PUBLIC - Pursuant to N.R.S. 241, this time is devoted to comments by the public, if any, and discussion of 
those comments.  No action may be taken upon a matter raised under this item on the agenda until the matter itself has been specifically included on a 
successive agenda and identified as an item for possible action. All public comments will be limited to 5 minutes for each person.              
ACTION WILL NOT BE TAKEN  

 
 Mr. Alan Coyner stated a claim under lease are not evident in that producers versus exploration diagram or chart, so you have 

to be careful, and he notes Commissioner Bryan's comment about operators versus explorers, the claim could still be in the 
explorers name so you've got to be careful.  Mr. Coyner stated he noticed no limit or cap was placed on the oil permit fee, and 
he guaranteed that Carole Vilardo would place a cap on that fee, and he insisted from the Nevada Taxpayers Association that 
there be a cap, so you might want to discuss what a reasonable cap is beforehand so you've got some number.  You may get 
away without it because there's no caps on geothermal fees, but advises you might want to establish a cap number.  Mr. Coyner 
stated to remember the Marigold Royalty split is dictated by how much is paid in annually and the first $500,000 to the 
university, the next $250,000  to the Mackay and then 50/50 after it.  What was left out of that language and was an oversight, 
we assumed it to be annual but didn't describe as a calendar year or fiscal year and if royalty payment should interrupt or stop 
because they stop mining in a section it would be very relevant as to what that year is with regards to the split so to keep that in 
mind in terms of how that money is accounted for.  In regard to geothermal well bonds, Mr. Coyner stated he does have 
members of the public that come to him for a second opinion from time to time.  There's a private landowner under lease to a 
geothermal company that has several deep wells on his property and the question is if the geothermal facility goes down, is he 
then responsible for the P&A on the deep well.  These wells are going to cost hundreds of thousands of dollars to P&A, and he 
doesn't think it's been addressed in any statute or regulation but it's something to consider in case there's not money because the 
geothermal bonds are small.  Mr. Coyner stated he was down at the McCaw property two weeks ago and it was interesting to 
view it from an outsider's eyes and he saw how the problem of old versus new is there, where it tends to dwell on the historic 
aspect of tommy-knockers like grandparents talking to grandkids.  Mr. Coyner stated the biggest problem is in busses, in 
getting the money to get the kids to the facility, but there needs to be more of a modern mining angle to that place because it is 
rooted in history.  Mr. Coyner stated he is serving on a committee at Bishop Manogue High School that is committed to starting 
a mining academy in Reno at the high school level, so the idea is to have signature academies and this idea is one that has come 
at Bishop Manogue.  This would offer a high school level mining 101-type course that a kid from Washoe County School 
District could come to Bishop Manogue and could get a flavor over a semester or a year about what it is to be a mining person, 
a geologist, a geophysicist, et cetera, and there is an alliance with Mackay and it could serve as a feeder school to Mackay as 
well and that will start in the fall of 2015.     

 
 Commissioner Bryan stated the recent AEMA convention a couple weeks ago in Sparks, the exploration community in Nevada 

wants to run a potential geological material center.  Commissioner Bryan also reminded that he, David Parker, and John Snow 
are coming up for renewal of their Commission positions.      

 
COMMISSION BUSINESS   

  
 A. Determination of time and place of next CMR meeting – The next CMR meeting was tentatively scheduled for 

February 24, 2015.   
 

ADJOURNMENT 
 
There being no further business, Commissioner DeLong made a motion to adjourn the meeting which was seconded by 
Commissioner Parker.   

 


